
 

 

  

CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION 

City Council Chambers 

Tuesday, April 29, 2025 at 2:00 PM 

MINUTES 
Call to Order 

 

Mayor Becky S. Smith called the meeting to order. 

 

Members Present 
 

Mayor Becky S. Smith, Council Members Brenda Boyd, Nellie Floyd, Bill Whitmire, and Donnie Griffin 

were present. City Manager Josh Ross and department heads were also in attendance. A quorum was 

present. Council Members Brent Guffey and Allen Hook were absent. 

 

FY 2025–2026 Draft Budget Review 

 

City Manager Josh Ross presented the proposed FY 2025–2026 budget totaling approximately $16.4 

million across all funds. The proposed budget maintains the current property tax rate of $0.55 per $100 of 

valuation and includes no use of fund balance to balance the budget. Utility rate increases are proposed: a 

3.5% increase for water, a 5% increase for sewer (due to increased TRU costs), and an increase in the non-

residential stormwater MMR rate from $3.00 to $4.50. 

 

This budget reflects a conservative and strategic approach, continuing investments in infrastructure, public 

safety, and staff. Key investments include: 

 

 Air conditioning for Stinger Park 

 Improvements to Centennial Park and the city pool 

 Citywide sidewalk repairs 

 Partial funding for an Economic Development Director 

 Three full-time firefighter positions 

 A 2% cost-of-living adjustment (COLA) for all staff 

 

Mr. Ross highlighted the following key financial considerations: 

 Additional debt service obligations (General and Water/Wastewater Funds) 

 Inflationary pressures and increased operational costs 

 Continued fund balance recovery 

 Revenue shortfalls due to decreased utility usage 

 Strategic investments to support growth 

 

Mr. Ross also reminded Council that the City remains on the Local Government Commission’s (LGC) Unit 

Assistance List (UAL), which is used by LGC staff to prioritize resources, develop guidance, and enhance 

fiscal monitoring. He reviewed recent audit response letters and memos sent to the LGC outlining corrective 



actions the City is taking to address financial challenges. The City's ongoing efforts are focused on 

strengthening fund balances, correcting structural imbalances, and eliminating reliance on one-time funding 

for recurring costs. The LGC has emphasized the need for “prompt and proper implementation” of these 

corrective actions, which the proposed budget supports. 

 

During the presentation, Council Member Donnie Griffin expressed concern that the City was not 

demonstrating an adequate sense of urgency or crisis response. He questioned expenses such as new hires 

and paving projects, noting that other municipalities are laying off staff while Bessemer City is adding 

positions. He specifically pointed to a new customer service representative in the Finance Department. 

Finance Director Diane Jenkins clarified that this was not a new position but a replacement for a vacancy 

that had been unfilled for over a year. 

 

Council Member Griffin then made a motion to transfer additional revenue to the General Fund by 

increasing stormwater fees for non-residents to the full 100% rate (instead of the previously adopted 75%), 

using the $70,000 budgeted for Parks and Recreation events, citing available sponsorships, and lowering 

the property tax rate by three cents. 

 

City Manager Ross explained that this proposal would violate North Carolina General Statutes, as 

stormwater revenues are restricted and cannot legally be used for general fund operations. Council Member 

Griffin noted that similar actions had been taken in the past. However, Finance Director Jenkins and City 

Manager Ross both advised that deviating from the corrective action plan agreed upon with the LGC would 

be a serious misstep. They emphasized that City staff have been in ongoing communication with the LGC 

and the NC State Treasurer about the proposed budget, and that using restricted revenues improperly was a 

major contributor to the City's past financial instability. 

 

Mayor Smith clarified that this was not the appropriate time to introduce a motion. Council Member Griffin 

then rescinded his motion but indicated he intends to bring it forward at the next Council Meeting when 

other Council Members are present. 

 

Department Head Reports 

 

JoD Franklin, Parks and Recreation Director 

Mr. Franklin reported that the April 26th Concert and Cruise-In event was successful and well attended. He 

announced the upcoming 37th Annual Down-Home Festival, beginning Thursday, May 8th, featuring a full 

lineup of vendors and entertainment. He noted a staffing transition at the City Pool and emphasized the 

need for more pool staff. Mr. Franklin introduced Dylan Hodge, the new Events & Marketing Coordinator. 

He also reported that the youth baseball program is thriving, with over 300 participants and four fields in 

use weekly. 

 

Jamie Watkins, City Planner & Stormwater Administrator 

Mrs. Watkins briefed Council on two interlocal agreements with Gaston County—one for stormwater 

permitting and another for soil erosion enforcement. She noted that both agreements are outdated and will 

be presented for revision at the May 2025 regular Council meeting. 

 

Diane Jenkins, Finance Director 

Ms. Jenkins updated Council on the proposed budget submittal to the LGC and noted that audit preparations 

are underway. She expressed concern about delinquent business utility accounts, citing two with balances 

exceeding $6,200. She explained that higher utility deposits for businesses help safeguard the City from 

financial loss and emphasized that unpaid business accounts impact citizens. She discussed the City’s 

pooled cash system and the legal requirement to maintain restricted funds for purposes such as USDA debt 



payments. Ms. Jenkins clarified that while the city may appear to have available funds, much of it is legally 

obligated. She also distinguished between administrative shares and inter-fund transfers. 

 

Jamie Ramsey, Director of Operations 

Mr. Ramsey informed Council that FEMA has reimbursed the City for all water purchases from Hurricane 

Helene, with more reimbursements expected. Mayor Smith inquired about downed trees on private 

property. Mr. Ramsey noted that the FEMA deadline for private property assistance was April 7, 2025. The 

City is now pursuing abatements through code enforcement. 

 

Tom Ellis, Director of Public Safety 

Mr. Ellis commended Code Enforcement Officers David James and Don Mauldin for assisting storm 

victims. He reported an increase in fire calls and Narcan-related incidents. The fleet division remains busy 

with vehicle recalls. He noted that police officers may be needed to assist with the City Pool. Council 

Member Griffin commended the public safety departments for their teamwork during a neighbor’s medical 

emergency. Council Member Brenda Boyd thanked the officers for resolving a code enforcement issue in 

her ward. 

 

Hydeia Hayes, City Clerk & Human Resources Director 

Ms. Hayes reported that the Downtown Development Board conducted interviews for new board members 

and will present recommendations at the May 2025 Council meeting. She also noted that the ABC Board 

will postpone interviews for applicants from outside the city. 

 

City Manager’s Report 

City Manager Ross announced the creation of a “BC Fact Check” webpage on the City’s website to combat 

misinformation. He reiterated his availability to meet individually with Council members to discuss budget 

concerns. 

 

Council General Discussion 

 

Mayor Smith opened the floor for discussion. Council Member Brenda Boyd voiced concern about the tone 

and lack of respect for the City Manager, Council, and others. She expressed confusion about the March 

2025 meeting, specifically the lack of a formal vote regarding the appointment of Bill Whitmire, who had 

been recommended by Michael Brooks. Ms. Boyd emphasized that Council members are adults who should 

vote independently and shared disappointment over poor communication. She affirmed her trust in Mr. 

Ross and noted unethical behavior at the March meeting. Ms. Boyd stressed unity, stating that no single 

vote can accomplish anything and that citizens had expressed concern about the Council’s apparent 

dysfunction. 

 

Council Member Donnie Griffin stated he initially intended to vote for Mr. Whitmire but was advised that 

Mr. Brooks did not know him well. As a result, he decided to get to know Mr. Whitmire personally before 

supporting his appointment. Council Member Nellie Floyd said she knows Mr. Whitmire’s wife and has 

worked with him on the Downtown Development Board. She expressed disappointment over the March 

meeting and described Council members glaring at one another. She said she made the motion under the 

impression there was consensus. Council Member Whitmire thanked the Board for his appointment and 

pledged to do his best. 

 

Mayor Smith expressed frustration over recurring attendance issues among Council members, which have 

hindered discussion on several tabled matters. She and Council Member Griffin discussed the need for a 

conversation about enforcing attendance policies as outlined in the Council’s adopted rules and procedures. 

Other members agreed and inquired about statutory attendance requirements. 



 

Adjournment 

 

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 4:11 PM on a motion by Council Member 

Brenda Boyd, seconded and approved unanimously. 

 

 

_______________________                                                  ______________________________ 

   Becky S. Smith, Mayor                 Hydeia Y. Hayes, City Clerk 


